MARGINALIZED VOICES FROM THE DOWNTOWN EASTSIDE:

ABORI GI NAL WOMEN SPEAK ABOUT

THEIR HEALTH EXPERIENCES

March 1, 2001

Marginalized Voices from the Downtown Eastside: Aboriginal Women Speak About Their Health Experiences

Prepared for:

The National Network on Environments and Women's Health

A Centre of Excellence on Women's Health

York University

Prepared by:

Cecilia Benoit (Principal Investigator)

Dena Carroll (Co-Investigator)

With the assistance of Lisa Lawr and Munaza Chaudhry

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Foremost, we would like to thank the Aboriginal women who participated in the focus groups and those individuals who voluntarily participated in the interviews. Without their voices, this project would not have been possible. In addition, our thanks go to the following organizations and people: the Vancouver Native Health Centre, especially Lou Demarais, Executive Director and Annette Garm, former Director of Sheway; the Ad Hoc Advisory Committee for their valuable expertise and advice; the National Network on Environment and Women's Health for their major financial contribution: the Women's Health Bureau in Victoria for the additional financial support; Lisa Lawr for her project coordination and research assistance; Munaza Chaudhry for her editing expertise; and Christina Zacharuk for her timely transcriptions of the personal and focus group interviews. Finally, we would like to extend gratitude to the University of Victoria for its in-kind funding for this project, without which it would have been difficult to bring to a final conclusion.

This project was funded by the National Network on Environments and Women's Health (NNEWH). NNEWH is financially supported by the Centres of Excellence for Women's Health Program, Women's Health Bureau, Health Canada. The views expressed herein do not necessarily represent the views of NNEWH or the official policy of Health Canada.

Cecilia Benoit is a Professor in the Department of Sociology at the University of Victoria (British Columbia, Canada) and Assistant Director of the Office of International Affairs. She is author of *Midwives in Passage* (1991), and has published journal articles and book chapters on mothering in Canada and select other countries, comparative health and welfare systems, and midwives' caring work in cross-national perspective. She is also author of *Women, Work and Social Rights* (2000) and co-editor of *Birth By Design* (2001) and *Reconceiving Midwifery* (in press). Cecilia has previously served on the Executive of NNEWH and is currently a co-partner.

Dena Carroll, MBA, BA Sociology from the University of Victoria, has been involved with Aboriginal women's health, urban Aboriginal health centres and health policy issues in B.C. She is a member of the Chippewa of Nawash Band in Cape Croker, Ontario. Dena and Cecilia have co-authored other work relating to Aboriginal midwifery, health regionalization and maternal health care. Dena is a community partner with NNEWH and serves on NNEWH's RNT Committee.

Lisa Lawr, who holds a Masters degree in Sociology from the University of Western Ontario, is currently completing a Graduate Diploma in Community Economic Development at Concordia University, with a special interest in micro-credit and micro-enterprise for women. She is also working with a loan circle program for women's enterprise development. Prior to that, Lisa worked with several organizations in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside area, helping to develop projects such as a community business and a community Internet network.

Munaza Chaudhry has a M.Sc. in Epidemiology from the University of Toronto and a B.Sc. in Health Information Science from the University of Victoria. Her master's thesis focused on cancer among First Nations people and she has been involved in Aboriginal health research for a number of years. She is currently working on the National Diabetes Surveillance System.

*Please send correspondence to Cecilia Benoit, Department of Sociology, University of Victoria, B.C., Canada, V8W 3P5. Phone (250) 721-7578, fax: (250) 721-6217 e-mail: cbenoit@uvic.ca

The report is also available in electronic format at: http://web.uvic.ca/~cbenoit/

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Research on general health service delivery in urban areas of British Columbia and other Canadian cities shows that Aboriginal women face formidable barriers in accessing provincial health services. Over the past decade, Urban Aboriginal Health Centres (UAHCs), controlled by Aboriginal people, have emerged to address the unmet health concerns of members of their population living in metropolitan areas. The purpose of this research is to address the gap in social science literature on how health care concerns of Aboriginal women living in marginalized areas of metropolitan cities are being met by UAHCs. Specifically, the research aims to give voice to Aboriginal women by asking them to identify whether the service delivery model employed at the Vancouver Native Health Society (VNHS), an urban Aboriginal health centre located in Vancouver's Downtown Eastside (DTES), provides them with the appropriate professional services and educational programs they need to take control of their health. A case-study approach was used in which we conducted focus groups with Aboriginal women who were clients of either VNHS, its sister organization, Sheway, or who were residents of the DTES. Interviews were also conducted with VNHS staff, health professionals, and community leaders on health care issues in the Vancouver area.

Two themes emerged from the focus groups with Aboriginal women: access issues and support service issues. In terms of access issues, Aboriginal women highlighted the importance of a non-judgmental, encouraging, non-task-oriented environment, greater gender sensitivity, and more woman-centered care. In addition, they expressed a need to focus on Aboriginal women's specific health concerns; the need for greater cultural-based programming including traditional healing methods and therapies); and more

personal security and assurance of anonymity. Some women identified the need for Aboriginal-only exclusive services and programs; however, there was no consensus among the women participants on whether this was a critical issue in the DTES. The following support service issues were also identified: enhanced services for children, access to parenting support and education programs, access to food, basic supplies and other assistance during emergencies, access to professional dental care, and access to integrated community health support networks.

The health service providers and administrators who were interviewed brought up many of the concerns articulated by the Aboriginal women participants. In addition, the former raised concern about the way in which regionalization was affecting the delivery and control of Aboriginal health services and programs in the DTES. Although there was overwhelming support from administrators and service providers for the development of a new Aboriginal Healing Centre in the Vancouver area, they nevertheless felt a number of outstanding issues needed to be resolved before moving forward. Viewed as critical for immediate examination were: the location of the proposed Centre and how equal access to the city's Aboriginal people would be provided, the types of services and programs that would be offered and who would control them, and how the Centre would build on the VNHS's current strengths? The health service providers and administrators who were interviewed also wondered how consultations were going to be conducted to ensure that Aboriginal people themselves, as well as administrators, caregivers and families, would have an opportunity to become involved in addressing these pivotal questions concerning the proposed Aboriginal Healing Centre.

Despite efforts from various quarters to "give voice" to the country's marginalized populations, this report shows that such has not been the case for Aboriginal women living in one of Canada's most prosperous cities. Only by integrating what we have learned from Aboriginal women themselves into planning health service delivery can we hope to improve their health status. At the end of the report, we present recommendations from our findings as a starting point in what we hope will be an ongoing process of integrating the voices of Aboriginal women, who are the experts on their own health care needs, into future planning, policy development and program delivery models.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1. INTRODUCTION1
2. GOALS AND OBJECTIVES
3. METHODS
4. RESEARCH LIMITATIONS4
5. VANCOUVER'S DOWNTOWN EASTSIDE5
5.1 ABORIGINAL WOMEN IN THE DTES
6. THE VANCOUVER NATIVE HEALTH SOCIETY9
6.1 THE VNHS WALK-IN MEDICAL CLINIC
6.2 THE SHEWAY PROJECT
7. KEY FINDINGS AND OUTCOMES
7.1 Perspectives of Urban Aboriginal Women
Importance of a Non-Judgmental, Encouraging and Supportive Environment15
Access to Services in Emergencies18
Security and Anonymity19
Exclusive Aboriginal Only Services and Programs vs. Inclusive Services and Programs. 20
Greater Cultural Sensitivity21
Greater Gender Sensitivity23

Enhanced Services for Children	26
Access to Parenting Programs	27
7.2 Perspectives of Service Providers and Administrators in the DTES	28
Integration of VNHS programs within the DTES Community	28
Exclusivity of Services	30
Regionalization and Urban Aboriginal Health Centres	30
Aboriginal Healing Centre	33
8. CONCLUSION	35
9. IMPLICATIONS FOR ABORIGINAL WOMEN AND HEALTH RESEARCH POLIC	Y 38
REFERENCES	40
APPENDIX A	43
CLINIC TARIES HIGHLIGHTING SEX AND ETHNICITY	43

There is an urgent need to hear the voices of Aboriginal women if improvements are to be made in their

health status.

Aboriginal women face formidable barriers in accessing provincial health services that are sensitive to their health beliefs and responsive to their health concerns.

1. INTRODUCTION

Canada is not unique among high-income countries in its current attempt to restructure its existing health and social welfare systems to control costs and yet provide its citizens with opportunities for greater control over their health care. But despite efforts from various quarters to "give voice" to the country's marginalized populations, this report shows that such has not been the case for Aboriginal women living in one of Canada's most prosperous cities, Vancouver, British Columbia (B.C.). We argue that there is an urgent need to hear the voices of Aboriginal women if improvements are to be made in their health status.

The limited research that exists on general health service delivery for Aboriginal women in Vancouver shows that they face formidable barriers in accessing provincial health services that are sensitive to their health beliefs and responsive to their health concerns. The few available reports indicate that Aboriginal women have for some time faced serious health problems due to inadequate access to reproductive care services, including access to pap smears, mammogram screening and abortion services (B.C. Provincial Health Officer, 1996; B.C. Women's Health Bureau, 1999.) However, the general lack of research has led to limited information that can influence health policy and planning for Aboriginal women.

Urban Aboriginal
Health Centres have
emerged to address
the health concerns of
Aboriginal people living
in large metropolitan
areas.

Over the past few decades Urban Aboriginal Health Centres (UAHCs), controlled by Aboriginal administrators, have emerged to address the unmet health concerns of Aboriginal people living in large metropolitan areas. To date, little evidence exists as to whether health care programs and services at UAHCs have been successful in fulfilling their mandate to offer more responsive, effective and culturally appropriate health programs and counseling services based on a holistic approach.

2. GOALS AND OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this research was to address the gap in social science literature on how health care concerns of Aboriginal women living in marginalized areas of metropolitan cities are being met by UAHCs. A critical component of this research was to examine the ways in which Vancouver's DTES environment, with its unique social, cultural and environmental problems, shapes the health care needs and experiences of Aboriginal women residents. Our research aimed to give voice to Aboriginal women by asking them to identify whether the service delivery model employed at the VNHS provides Aboriginal women residents with the appropriate professional services and educational programs they need to take control of their health.

A critical component of this research was to examine the unique ways in which the DTES's social, cultural and physical environment, shapes the health care needs and experiences of Aboriginal women.

3. METHODS

Participant observation, personal interviews and focus groups were our primary methods of determining Aboriginal women's perceptions of health care services at VNHS.

Participant observation, personal interviews and focus groups were our primary methods of determining Aboriginal women's perceptions of health care services at VNHS. Our research was conducted in two phases. During Phase I (July-August 1999), we conducted a literature review of the DTES, an inventory of its relevant outreach services and an overview of the VNHS. This information served as background for the rest of the study. During Phase II (October 1999-February 2000) an Ad Hoc Community Advisory Council comprising Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal professionals was formed to provide us with advice, direction and guidance regarding our research goals, respondent recruitment strategies and interviewing. We eventually conducted three focus groups with Aboriginal women who were 1) clients of VNHS; 2) clients of its sister organization, Sheway; or 3) non-affiliated residents of the DTES. The focus groups were well attended. An honorarium was made available to the participants at the end of the session. Despite some initial suspicions, most participants proved to be very eager to share their experiences and opinions. For many of the women, this was the first time they had ever been consulted about the health services they access in the DTES. One participant articulated the importance for the women to be consulted about their health care needs:

For many of the women, this was the first time they had ever been consulted about the health services they access.

There's a lot of women around that have their ideas, they know how to approach work and living down here, they have the experience of what's needed.

~ DTES Woman

In addition, we conducted twenty-five personal interviews with VNHS staff, health professionals, government representatives, and community leaders in health care. Our aim in doing so was to get a wider view of challenges in providing adequate health care for Aboriginal women in the DTES.

4. RESEARCH LIMITATIONS

As a case study, this research is focused on the health access issues of Aboriginal women in Vancouver's DTES and identifies their perceptions of programs and services at the Vancouver Native Health Society.

As a case study, this research is focused on the broad health access issues of Aboriginal women in Vancouver's DTES, and identifies their perceptions of programs and services at the Vancouver Native Health Society. Due to the diversity of Aboriginal women's experiences and health needs and the unique issues associated with the DTES, the information we gathered cannot speak to the experiences of all Aboriginal women. As researchers, we recognize that the self-selected sampling procedures used to attract focus group participants and individual interview respondents likely resulted in exclusion of the voices of other Aboriginal women in the DTES, such as the elderly, women not in crisis, those from rural areas or even those living in neighbouring districts of the DTES.

5. VANCOUVER'S DOWNTOWN EASTSIDE

A disproportionate number (40%) of DTES residents are

Aboriginal (McColl, 1998). In fact, seventy percent of Vancouver's

total Aboriginal population lives in the DTES (Joseph, 1999). The

district is infamous as Canada's poorest neighborhood (TACCIT,

1999). Seventy-five percent of residents in the area live at the edge

of poverty, with an annual income only one-third that of other

Vancouver residents (City of Vancouver, Spring 1998). Most DTES

Aboriginal residents have been displaced from other parts of Canada

or the province (VIDUS, 1998).

Vancouver's Downtown Eastside is infamous as Canada's poorest neighborhood and for

its prolific drug trade.

Seventy percent of Vancouver's total

Aboriginal population lives in the DTES.

Housing for many DTES residents is a 12' x 9' slum hotel room, which can cost up to 65 percent of a person's monthly social assistance money. Slum hotels tend to lack even the basic amenities, including a refrigerator, stove or private bathroom (Kinesis, 1997). Security, privacy and safety also tend to be absent (Kinesis, 1997). Some slum hotels serve as 'shooting galleries' for drug users. 'Crack' cocaine, heroin, and prescription drugs are routinely sold and used openly on the streets below the hotels. One Aboriginal woman participant described the housing situation this way:

My problem is cockroaches. The housing part, it's not adequate. There's a lot of slumlords out there, running these hotels and they don't put money into them and they just rent them as they are, and we have to try to fix them up when we move into them.

[B]ut we can't live that way. We've been there for months and the cockroaches have been there. There's a lot of germs. ~DTES Aboriginal Woman

There is broad acknowledgment that the social problems are the result of socioeconomic factors.

The DTES' overcrowded hotels and poor living conditions, in combination with a substantial part of its population who are dependent on addictive drugs and who practice unsafe sex, have led to the highest rate of HIV/AIDS transmission in the Western world (TACCLT, 1999). A Canadian record of 365 drug overdoses occurred in Vancouver in 1999, most of which were in the DTES (Clark, 1999). In addition, the urban ghetto is plagued with 'super-infections' of Hepatitis A and C (Kent, 1998), and frequently experiences epidemic outbreaks of tuberculosis and syphilis. In 1997, the Vancouver Richmond Health Board formally recognized the severity of conditions in the DTES by declaring a public health crisis (Vancouver/Richmond Health Board Resolution, Sept.1997). There is broad acknowledgment that the DTES's social problems are the result of socioeconomic factors such as poverty, lack of safe, affordable housing, social isolation, marginalization of injection drug users, little by way of supported training/employment for its marginalized population, and lack of access to sensitive and culturally appropriate health and social support services (Taccit, 1999).

Seventy percent of DTES sex trade workers are Aboriginal women.

5.1 Aboriginal Women in the DTES

Roughly 50 percent of the Aboriginal population living in the DTES is female (Joseph, 1999). Seventy percent of DTES sex trade

80% of Aboriginal children in the DTES live in poverty.

workers are Aboriginal women. Indeed, the average Aboriginal sex trade worker is 26 years of age, has three or more children, and is without a high school education (Currie, 1995). Teenage births are 13 times higher in the DTES than in the general Vancouver region (Joseph, 1999). In addition, 50 percent of Aboriginal families are headed by a lone female parent (Joseph, 1999) and 80 percent of Aboriginal children in the DTES live in poverty.

Aboriginal women are the fastest growing group of HIV+
people in the DTES (Parry, 1997) and are three times more likely to
die of HIV/AIDS than other women (Joseph, 1999.) In general,
unprotected sexual activity and reliance on the on-street sex trade
industry to garner a living, places Aboriginal women at higher risk of
having health problems than their non-Aboriginal counterparts
(Parry, 1997.) Due to gender inequalities in male-female
relationships, Aboriginal women are often more likely than men to
share needles, to be 'second on the needle' and to associate condom
use or non-use with the important distinctions between work and
relational sex (Whynot, 1998; Garm, 1997).

Aboriginal women in the DTES often find themselves isolated and lacking any sense of community and social support.

Many Aboriginal women with HIV/AIDS living in the DTES have been displaced from their reserve communities due to lack of understanding and acceptance of HIV/AIDS within their home community (Bouw, 1996). Like other residents of the DTES,

Aboriginal women also tend to find themselves isolated and lacking a sense of community and social support. Social agencies often become surrogate homes and families to the more traditional clan or community back home (Garm, 1997).

The statistics on Aboriginal women above are presented to provide a social context. However, these statistics are limited in that they do not provide the true picture of the negative effects of poverty, unemployment, and social welfare on overall health and social well-being of Aboriginal women residents. One woman who said expressed the complexity of these women's lives:

Even though I'm a strong woman on the outside, deep down I'm hurting and many of us women are like that, but we don't show it because we don't want people to look at us like we're less than we are. It's just our way; we walk with our head high and proud.

Of the over 180 social services in the DTES, only five are specifically aimed at serving women. These include: the Sheway Project for substance using pregnant women, which is affiliated with the Vancouver Native Health Society and discussed in more detail below; the YWCA Crabtree Corner, a daycare/women's drop-in; the DTES Women's Centre; WISH, a drop-in/support group for sex workers; and DAMS, which sponsors drug/alcohol support meetings.

Of the over 180 social services in the DTES, only five are specifically aimed at serving women.

Approximately 50% of VNHS clients are Caucasian and 40% are Aboriginal.

6. THE VANCOUVER NATIVE HEALTH SOCIETY

The Vancouver Native Health Society (VNHS) operates from a cramped, street-level storefront two blocks from the main intersection in the DTES. Approximately 50 percent of VNHS clients are Caucasian and 40 percent are Aboriginal. Despite its visibility among Aboriginal people generally, it is telling that some of the focus group participants had never utilized services offered at the VNHS. Not all of the women participants were aware of the VNHS's Native Health Clinic. Most of the staff at the VNHS is of non-Aboriginal origin. This is due, in part, to the lack of qualified Aboriginal health professionals, human rights hiring policies and high risk factors associated with employment. VNHS is a provincially funded, non-profit society. Core administrative funding comes from the Ministry of Health's Aboriginal Health Division and other Ministry departments.

The original intent of the VNHS was to establish an Aboriginal controlled, culturally appropriate health centre for Vancouver's *Aboriginal* people living in the DTES. Yet, philosophically, as well as in practice, the Centre's services and programs are not restricted to Aboriginal people. The current Director and many of the staff maintain that it is important to work with the entire DTES community and that health care services must not 'ghettoize' Aboriginal people or encourage a system of apartheid, especially

Like other Aboriginal service providers in urban health centres in B.C. and Canada, the VNHS does not turn away non-Aboriginal clients.

since the overall needs in the area are so great. Hence, like other Aboriginal service providers in urban health centres in B.C. and Canada at large, the VNHS does not turn away non-Aboriginal clients. I nstead, they adhere to the belief that their clinical services and educational programs should be responsive to the needs and concerns of other client groups as well. Health care professionals, recognizing the crisis situation in the DTES, also embrace this philosophy, believing that services should mirror the ethnic mosaic of the community.

Programs and services at the VNHS include a walk-in Medical Clinic; Positive Outlook (an HIV/AIDS Home Health Care Program); The Sheway Project; Pre-Recovery Empowerment Program; TBSA Outreach Program (Tuberculosis Services to Aboriginals); DTES Health Outreach Van Program; Youth Safe House Project; and Inner City Foster Parents Project. Traditional Chinese medicine and acupuncture are also offered through the Positive Outlook program.

The walk-in Medical Clinic is the most public face of the VNHS and the first point of entry for most clients. However, Sheway, a partnering program located within the same building, appears to be the most successful in serving the needs of Aboriginal women. The subsequent section of this report provides a brief overview of these two programs. Further information on other VNHS

The walk-in Medical Clinic is the most public face of the VNHS and the first point of entry for most clients; however, Sheway, a partnering program located within the same building, appears to be the most successful in serving the needs of Aboriginal women.

programs and services can be obtained from the VNHS Annual Report.¹

6.1 The VNHS Walk-In Medical Clinic

The walk-in Medical Clinic offers extended evening and weekend services. Five male and four female doctors provide routine medical treatment, HI V/AI DS care, methadone maintenance and STD counseling and follow-up. The Clinic's mission is to provide free, non-judgmental primary care and health promotion to all residents of the DTES community (VNHS, 1999). Plain clothed security guards, indistinguishable from the medical office assistants, provide security in the small waiting area. A small children's playroom is available from the adjoining Sheway Project. Currently, almost half of clinic visits are by Aboriginal clients and roughly half again are by Aboriginal women, but the majority of services are provided to non-Aboriginal males who account for 36 percent of the total caseload. Women accessing services at VNHS (separate from Sheway) felt that, overall, services at VHNS were "good." As stated by one woman:

Women accessing services at VNHS felt that, overall, services at VHNS were good.

With the [VNHS's] Native Health clinic, they have a really good service there, but it's really quite small. They have really good doctors in there, and they do, I know where she's coming from when she ways that they do sit and listen to you. [But] I just wish they had a bigger clinic.

~DTES Woman

11

¹ Vancouver Native Health Society 1998 Annual Report.

A review of clinic records indicates that Aboriginal women are overrepresented in the HIV/AIDS clinic files. A review of clinic records indicates that Aboriginal women are overrepresented in the HIV/AIDS clinic files. In 1998, 70 percent of Sheway's clients were Aboriginal women. Aboriginal women accounted for 65 percent of the female HIV/AIDS caseload (VNHS, 1998). Despite these statistics, Aboriginal women comprise only 38 percent of female clients at the Positive Outlook HIV/AIDS drop-in program located next door. These data suggest that Aboriginal women are not frequenting the Positive Outlook program to the extent that we might expect. The mode of service delivery may help us to understand why. Sheway stands as an alternative example in this regard.

6.2 The Sheway Project

Although a next-door-neighbour and partner of VNHS,

Sheway is a distinct program that promotes holistic health care and
a "homey" atmosphere for its women clients. Sheway's mandate is to
assist substance-using pregnant women with the necessary services
to have the healthiest babies possible. Because Sheway is currently
the only program at the VNHS that specifically addresses Aboriginal
women's health needs, it was chosen as a focus for this study.

Sheway has earned a reputation as a model program focused on improving infant, child and maternal health for marginalized DTES

Sheway has earned a reputation as a model program focused on improving infant, child and maternal health.

In 1999, due to a severe shortage of physical space, the program was forced to turn away any new clients. women. When the program opened in 1993, 40 percent of babies born in the DTES had FAS/NAS syndrome; of these, 33 percent had low birth weights and virtually all were apprehended by child protection authorities (Loock *et al.*, 1993). By contrast, 86 percent of the pregnant women who contacted Sheway in 1998 had infants with birth weights of over 2500 grams. Further, for over half of the new mothers (58 percent), child custody was not a major concern (Poole, 2000: 22). Nevertheless, the Sheway program has neither the staff nor the resources to provide support for FAS infants of the women clients, nor does it have the resources for prevention health programs.

In 1999, Sheway surpassed 100 open client files, of which 70 percent were Aboriginal women. Due to a severe shortage of physical space, the program was forced to turn away any new clients.

Approximately 30 to 70 women and children drop in daily at Sheway.

Further, many women continue to access Sheway services after they have been officially discharged, indicating the need for services after 18 months (access to services is officially limited to 18 months.)

Sheway staff use a team-approach to provide continuous, seamless and integrated services.

On-site professionals at Sheway include two part-time physicians, three community health nurses, two social workers, one

outreach worker, a dietician, an infant development program worker and an alcohol and drug counselor. Through partnerships with other agencies, the services of an occupational therapist, physiotherapist, pediatrician, nurse clinician, and financial aid worker are also available. Sheway staff use a team-approach to provide continuous, seamless and integrated services. One client expressed her satisfaction with the approach:

I like it because they have everything under one roof here, like they have the nutritionist, they have the doctors, they have the child development workers... I like it because they have everything under one roof and you can see everybody.

~ Sheway Client

Services provided include a daily nutritious hot lunch, food hampers, vitamin supplements, bus tickets, infant formula, baby supplies and other emergency services. The physical space at Sheway is limited to a small living and dining room area and miniature play area for children that spans the hallway between it and the medical clinic. Although maintaining the program's underlying principle of confidentiality is difficult in such a small space, the limited space has some advantages in that it promotes cohesion and community among the drop-in clients.

Aboriginal women identified many significant issues, with two themes emerging: access needs and support service needs.

7. KEY FINDINGS AND OUTCOMES

7.1 Perspectives of Urban Aboriginal Women

Aboriginal women who participated in the focus groups identified many significant issues, with two themes emerging: access

needs and support service needs. The predominant topics arising from the focus groups were:

Access I ssues:

- importance of a non-judgmental, encouraging, supportive environment;
- need for focus on Aboriginal women's health concerns (social/emotional, spiritual as well as physical needs);
- security and anonymity;
- need for greater cultural-based programming (including traditional healing methods and therapies);
- greater gender sensitivity and woman-centered care;
- exclusively Aboriginal vs. inclusive services and programs.

Support Service Needs:

- enhanced services for children;
- access to parenting support and education programs;
- access to food, supplies and other assistance during emergencies.

Importance of a Non-Judgmental, Encouraging and Supportive Environment

A welcoming, group-oriented approach to service delivery, such as that offered at Sheway, was highlighted by many women as an important factor in determining their comfort with accessing services. More than an 'open door', this program practices a non-task-oriented philosophy of care critical to getting women through the front door, as a first step in preventative health. For instance, many women initially approach Sheway for non-medical reasons, such

A welcoming, grouporiented approach to service delivery, such as that offered at Sheway, was highlighted by many women as an important factor in determining their comfort with accessing services. In addition to social and emotional factors, the overall organizational structure, environment and location, influence whether Aboriginal women perceive an organization to be supportive.

as to access wholesome food and to socialize with other new mothers. In time, once trust with staff has been developed, they begin to address their health issues. Were they faced with numerous personal and medical questions upon first arriving, as is the norm in medical offices, most would not enter the site at all or would not stay long enough to begin a treatment program. As expressed by one VNHS client:

You need to go in there for support or someone to talk to. They need to listen, and not just say 'Well, what is it you really want from us?' It's like we have to have something to get from them and we just want to talk.

~VNHS Client

In addition to social and emotional factors, the overall organizational structure, environment and location influence whether Aboriginal women perceive an organization to be supportive. At Sheway, services are organized in a non-hierarchical manner and it is not uncommon for staff to have lunch or tea with clients. The women we spoke with praise Sheway staff for being easy to talk to and for meeting the women's diverse emotional and psychological needs:

I like talking to the workers up there and I find that it's a good place for me right now, where I'm at, to be around the people. And I just find it easy to talk to some of the people there.

~ Sheway Client

Aboriginal women also identified the value of peer support and appreciated the opportunity to socialize with other women and mothers who share similar life situations. The women valued the

Aboriginal women also identified the value of peer support and appreciated the opportunity to socialize with other new mothers who share similar life situations.

For many, Sheway provides a safe place of refuge, away from their hotel rooms that offer little or no security from abusive partners and street-life.

Some focus group participants voiced the need for more structure or rules with respect to program accessibility and acceptable behaviour on site.

opportunity that Sheway provides for their children to socialize with other children and to just 'hang out' in a non-judgmental environment. For these women, the program provides a safe, encouraging and supportive environment where women can learn problem-solving skills, gain valuable experience in interpersonal relationships, and enjoy role modeling and learning from other women. As one woman put it:

What I really like is just sitting there watching the other mothers; sometimes you learn from [the] experience [of other mothers]. ~Sheway Client

For many, Sheway provides a safe *place of refuge*, away from their hotel rooms that offer little or no security from abusive partners and street-life. As stated by one participant and reiterated by others:

It's [Sheway] a safe place; instead of being out there... I'm lucky this place is here, otherwise I'd probably be six feet under long ago. They have supported me a long, long time. ~Sheway Client

Yet, despite a fondness for the openness and informal atmosphere, some focus group participants voiced the need for more structure or rules with respect to program accessibility and acceptable behaviour on site. Some of the women mentioned that Sheway programs were too lenient in providing access to people who didn't 'qualify', such as people who were looking for meals or a 'place to crash'. Due to limited amounts of food available, the women were particularly concerned

about non-pregnant women, as well as male acquaintances, receiving meals before pregnant women themselves had eaten. Others did not like the fact that clients who were 'high' or 'passed out on the couch' were nevertheless permitted on site. Still others felt staff did not intervene enough when clients parented inappropriately, although others recognized that this was a parent's choice.

The women also appreciated the hot lunches, food, vitamins, formula and diapers, among other things.

Access to Services in Emergencies

In addition to the importance of Sheway's unique atmosphere, the women also appreciated the hot lunches, food, vitamins, baby formula and diapers, among other things. As expressed by one woman, the food provided nutrition that would not otherwise be available:

I think that a big help is the milk and the food, because a lot of times you don't have money. Because welfare... it's not enough money. They think it is, but it's really not.

~DTES Woman

Many women praised Sheway staff for helping out in a crisis and looking out for their welfare.

In addition, many women praised Sheway staff for helping out in a crisis and looking out for their welfare. An example provided by one participant illustrates that the support provided extends beyond the walls of Sheway:

When I had my second daughter, I didn't have a car seat and they [Sheway staff] came to the hospital and gave me a car seat and clothes and they took me home.

~DTES Woman

Security and Anonymity

The ability to control security and anonymity were additionally identified by the women as important factors in determining whether they felt comfortable accessing services. For example, some women felt uncomfortable and unsafe entering the crowded waiting area at the VNHS's adjacent Walk-In Medical Clinic, which is mainly frequented by male clients. Some of our women participants were concerned about encountering men in the Clinic who they knew and feared. Furthermore, the DTES community is comparatively small in population and geographical area and some of the Aboriginal women said that they did not feel comfortable seeking medical attention for mental and physical injuries caused by family violence. Others did not want significant others knowing that they were seeking professional care. As expressed by one woman:

If you're going to get a flu shot or you're going because you got an infected splinter or something, that's different than if you're going for a breast lump or something to do with your body as a woman. Or if it has to do with sexually transmitted diseases or something related with childbearing, you may not want any men to know. ~DTES woman

Overall, the women seemed to be more comfortable accessing services at the DTES Women's Centre than at the VNHS's Medical Clinic. Concerning the former:

It's always a safe place to be. There's always a woman there and you know for a fact that men are not allowed to come in. —Aboriginal Client

The ability to control security and anonymity were additionally identified by the women as important factors in determining whether they felt comfortable accessing services.

Aboriginal women do not access health services due to the presence of social workers/child welfare workers being there and their association with child apprehensions.

Another issue of security and accessibility was raised by a DTES health professional who stated that many Aboriginal women do not access health services at the VNHS due to the presence of social workers/ child welfare workers being there and their association with child apprehensions.

On food bank days at the VNHS, clients also commented that they were afforded little privacy, but instead were forced to line up down the street. Despite attempts to ensure confidentiality and safety by VNHS staff, Aboriginal women expressed serious concerns about how the lineup might foster racism and stereotyping.

Exclusive Aboriginal Only Services and Programs vs. Inclusive Services and Programs

Aboriginal women in the DTES do not unanimously agree that exclusive Aboriginal-only services and programs in the DTES would improve their access to appropriate and sensitive health care services. Some women felt that Aboriginal-only programs and services were racist; other women, however, mentioned that the particular needs of Aboriginal women (and men) in the DTES could only be met through exclusive programs and services.

As noted above, the official mandate of VNHS is to enhance the health status of urban Aboriginal people by improving their access to appropriate health care services. However, philosophically

Aboriginal women in the DTES do not unanimously agree that exclusive Aboriginal-only services and programs in the DTES would improve their access to appropriate and sensitive health care services. and practically, the VNHS operates on a non-exclusive basis. As stated by one participant:

What started out as Aboriginal didn't stay... [W]hen I first came to Native Health and Outreach, there were Native health workers, and all of a sudden they're gone. What should have been a Native outreach is now multicultural; now we've got everybody down there. ~VNHS Client

Regardless of their particular views on exclusivity along race-ethnic lines, there was consensus among the women participants about their desire for culturally appropriate care.

Greater Cultural Sensitivity

Most of the Aboriginal women participants expressed a desire to access traditional health services, including healing circles, talking circles, sweat lodges, traditional healers and elder teachings. Our women respondents expressed concern that while elements of Aboriginal culture are integrated into programs in varying degrees, there is no overarching attempt to ensure that traditional models are integrated with bio-medical models across VNHS programs and services. Noteworthy in this regard is that the services provided at the Medical Clinic have no cultural or traditional component, although the Life skills programs include a historical-cultural component, as well as regular sweat lodge ceremonies. Other programs, such as Sheway, attempt to embody holistic aspects of Aboriginal culture. As the women see it, the Sheway model is more akin to Aboriginal

Most of the Aboriginal women participants expressed a desire to access traditional healing such as healing circles, talking circles, sweat lodges, traditional healers and teachings.

Many of the women expressed the importance of cultural awareness in relation to their overall healing, health and well-being.

traditional health structures: it includes a fluid and informal service delivery, a collective, non-hierarchical staff structure, and horizontal relationships between staff and clients, all of which reflect the values and structures of the more communal, traditional Aboriginal societies. Many of the women participants stressed the importance of cultural awareness for their overall healing, health and well-being. As stated by one woman and reiterated by others:

The desire for a shift to traditional ways was especially noted in the area of counseling and social services. I speak my language, but I don't know about my background. I know where I'm from and all that, but I remember my mom and dad used to do all this Native stuff. I'd like to know about that. It's just lost. ~DTES Woman

The women participating in this research hoped that a future

Aboriginal Healing Centre would provide a much-desired holistic and integrated system of health services specifically for Aboriginal people.

The desire for a shift to traditional ways was especially noted in the area of counseling and social services. Some women were dissatisfied with the counseling they had received because they felt it was Western-based, 'by the book' counseling. They desired instead more traditional, spiritual healing such as talking circles:

Aboriginal women felt at ease speaking to someone with a broadly similar cultural background who had had similar life experiences as themselves, both in terms of Aboriginal culture as well as 'street life' and drug use.

Concern was also expressed about the amount of time some physicians spent listening to the women's concerns, forming relationships, explaining procedures and generally demonstrating a sense of care and compassion.

The reason I quit coming to counseling here [at the VNHS] is because the counseling is done very poorly... I go to healing circles and all kinds of stuff for my drug addiction now...[E]very time I used to come here the problems that I used to go through when I was pregnant, they would just get pushed under the table and I'd be leaving here worse than the way I walked in... I'm a First Nations person, and I believe that a healing circle would help because that is our spirituality, that's how we help each other.

~Sheway Client

Whether the focus was on Sheway or the other branches of the VNHS, the women participants in this study expressed greater comfort in talking to Aboriginal staff rather than non-Aboriginal staff. Aboriginal women felt at ease speaking to someone with a broadly similar cultural background who had had similar life experiences as themselves, both in terms of Aboriginal culture as well as 'street life' and perhaps drug use. The ease and comfort of talking with another Aboriginal person was described by one woman:

I prefer to be around First Nations, because they're the ones who understand where we come from. When you go in there, a non-Native person will look at you as a client. But a First Nation's person will look at you like a friend, but will maintain her professionalism.

~VNHS Client

Greater Gender Sensitivity

On the one hand, concern was also expressed about the short amount of time some physicians (of both genders) spent listening to the women's concerns, forming relationships, explaining procedures and

generally demonstrating a sense of care and compassion. One woman shared her experience with us:

Aboriginal women desired more female staff to meet their health needs.

I think there are a couple of doctors here who don't belong here.. because they're very rude and there's no compassion, there's no caring, there's no nothing... We don't need doctors like that here." ~VNHS Client

On the other hand, the Aboriginal women desired more female staff to meet their health needs. This desire for female physicians may be in part because Aboriginal women are likely to have experienced abusive or unhealthy relationships from men and, therefore, have a deeper discomfort in seeking health care from male practitioners.

[Aboriginal women] tend to go to those [all-women programs] as opposed to the mixed services. Well they, you know, they may see their drug dealer in there right, they see them and maybe they owe them something or maybe there's a cop in there and they've got warrants out for their arrest, or there may be some guy that they turned a trick with.

~DTES Health Professional

The patient-doctor relationship was especially relevant to Sheway clients as they approach delivery time. Many Sheway clients commented that they never knew which doctor would be on duty at the hospital's maternity ward, or if an intern or student would show up instead. One woman stated:

I ve had five (children) and not one of the doctors I was seeing was ever there. Not once. I had interns. I had students. I had everything else, [other than] the doctor that I was supposed to [have help me] deliver. He was on call, or off, or whatever. ~Sheway Client

Many of the Aboriginal women participating in our study spoke highly of the midwifery services that were offered at Sheway during 1996-97 as a pilot project. The women said the midwives had more time for them, got to know them and were there for them during labour because they were always on call. One woman shared her experience:

Sheway clients spoke highly of the midwifery services that were offered at Sheway during 1996-97 as a pilot project

When they had midwives, it was just phenomenal...
You got to know the people before you went into
labour. You knew who was going to be there for you
way before you got pregnant... and it made it so much
more comfortable. ~ Sheway Client

However, Sheway's pilot midwifery project was terminated in 1997, at the same time that the midwifery profession was granted legal standing and public funding in B.C. (Benoit, 2000). To the researchers' knowledge, none of the users of midwifery services at Sheway were consulted about the elimination of the program.

Despite evidence of cost-effectiveness and lower risks of complications in midwifery-assisted childbirth (Clarke, 2000), the service has yet to be replaced or provided to Aboriginal women across B.C.

The lack of services for older children and children of parents with HIV/AIDS was identified by the women as an area requiring significant

improvement.

Many women identified a need for education and support for children with HIV+ parents.

Dental services were also a concern for the Aboriginal women.

Enhanced Services for Children

The lack of services for older children and children of parents with HIV/AIDS was identified by the women as an area requiring significant improvement. The women felt that the needs of older children, particularly those without any 'identified problems' were not being met. It is important for these children, at the very least, to be able to interact with other children their age for support and comradery. As expressed by one Aboriginal woman:

What we need to develop is a more structured core program for kids. Sheway deals with young children; Crabtree deals with kids up to age six and after that you can't go in there. Where do kids go after that? I just find that it's really stressful, especially for someone like myself, living with an illness and no support. There needs to be a support program or a place for my son to interact with other children and people who are going through something similar. ~DTES Woman

In addition, many women identified a need for education and support for children with HIV+ parents. As one woman put it:

AIDS places in Vancouver have no support for our children. It's the year 2000 and I've been saying this for the last ten years and nothing's been done. So how can we look out for our future? I think that's what our AIDS organizations need to do, something for our future. ~DTES Woman

Dental services were also a concern for the Aboriginal women participating in this project, particularly in terms of services for their children. Many of them stated that they had difficulty finding a good dentist nearby. Many women also expressed difficulty in

having their dental services covered through the federal government due to current policy to transfer these services to Aboriginal peoples themselves.

Access to Parenting Programs

Although the women enjoyed learning parenting skills through observing and conversing with other parents at Sheway, many women expressed a desire for greater access to formal parenting skill training. Because many of the women did not have family from whom to learn parenting skills and others did not experience positive parenting themselves, they felt, as one women put it, that 'it would be good to have someone come in and teach parents about their children, discipline and all this stuff.' One woman said she wanted to learn about 'ages and stages of the children, sibling rivalry, when they lost their teeth...'

Finally, a number of women expressed concerns regarding a gap in services for mothers after their children were 18 months. The need to address this gap was articulated by one woman who said:

Sheway's mandate is that when you have a baby that's eighteen month, you're done your time here and it's time to move on. If you've got a baby with FAS or FAE the most difficult time is the terrible twos. Sheway says it's time to move on and that's when you need the most help, more support, more understanding and that's when you need the next step.

~DTES Woman

Many women expressed a desire for greater access to formal parenting skill training.

A number of women also expressed concerns regarding a gap in services for mothers after their children were 18 months.

7.2 Perspectives of Service Providers and Administrators in the DTES

The service providers and administrators identified many of the same issues of concern to the Aboriginal women participating in the focus groups; however, there were some differences in perceptions regarding integration of programs and exclusivity of services. The effect of regionalization and overall visions for an Aboriginal Healing Centre were also discussed with the service providers and administrators.

identified many of the same issues of concern to the Aboriginal women participating in the focus groups

The service providers and administrators

Integration of VNHS programs within the DTES Community

The service providers commented that there appeared to be fairly good communication among service providers at the VNHS.

However, at the same time our respondents noted that improvements could be made to better integrate client care services. The main reason given for the current lack of tight service integration was that there are too few personnel to meet health care demands. The result is that services are often provided in crisis intervention mode, leaving little time for coordination of service delivery and development of preventive programs. A government official who was interviewed for this project also identified the lack of integration:

Services are often provided in crisis intervention mode, leaving little time for coordination of service delivery and development of preventive programs.

I don't see Native Health services as being fully integrated. They [are] more like a series of separate programs within a health centre.

~Provincial Government Representative

There was also general consensus among service providers that VNHS maintained a strong presence in the DTES community at large and with other service provider groups.

The service providers, however, maintained that networking was not a problem, as informal processes and referrals were generally made between services. There was also general consensus among service providers that VNHS maintained a strong presence in the DTES community at large and with other service provider groups. A female doctor at VNHS had this to say regarding one means of how integration is facilitated:

I think our monthly meetings help, you know, each program within VNHS each gives an update on what's going on, so that way we hear about each other, we see people, we recognize who does what, and I mean I've always tried personally to get better at that. I'm thinking when I see patients which programs they could be sent to, or should I send this woman to the Life Skills program or to Sheway.

~ VNHS Doctor

Most VNHS programs and services are based on the Western biomedical model.

According to a provincial government official, there is considerable flexibility in how the VNHS allocates its resources. The limits are "pretty much open to them as to how they want to do it - within limits." For example, funding provided for physicians may be reallocated to other programming better suited to the needs of the community, such as social workers. To some extent this helps prevent a medically-driven model from become dominant. Yet, in actuality, most VNHS programs and services are based on the Western biomedical model. In addition, most services are tailored to meet the overall needs of the DTES population, which means that few

Most service providers and administrators were of the opinion that addressing the needs of the DTES community in general was more important than offering exclusive Aboriginal services.

culturally appropriate and traditional models of healing are incorporated.

Exclusivity of Services

There was greater consensus among the service providers and administrators than Aboriginal women with respect to health services. Most service providers and administrators were of the opinion that addressing the needs of the DTES community in general was more important than offering exclusive Aboriginal exclusivity/inclusivity of primary services. A health board member reiterated this view, stating that services for women in the DTES should be targeted to all women in the DTES:

[There is a] debate [when] you're developing health services for women in the DTES: do you really want to get into developing two frames, one for Aboriginals, one for other women?... I think the way that we've gone about it so far is [to] develop services for all women in the DTES, making sure that they're accessible and sensitive and all those things, regardless of who you are. ~Health Board Member

Regionalization and Urban Aboriginal Health Centres

The decentralization of health care planning from governments to local health boards and the devolution of decision-making powers have affected how services are delivered to specific population groups, including Aboriginal women in the DTES.

Advocates of *regionalization* argue that greater efficiencies will be made as decision-making and accountability are provided at the local

Advocates of regionalization suggest that greater efficiencies will be made as decision-making and accountability is provided at the local level.

Regional Health
Boards, at the local
level, now have a
significant say in how
services in their
regions will be
organized and greater
accountability in
ensuring that
appropriate services
are provided.

level. It is anticipated that greater voice will be provided to local residents to express their health concerns and needs (B.C. Policy Manual for Regional Health Boards, 1996). Whether or not greater voice for residents has been achieved is still an open question. What is clear is that the Aboriginal Health Division of the Ministry of Health monitors fewer and fewer contracts for targeted programs for Aboriginal people, and will oversee even less in the coming years. Regional Health Boards, at the local level, now have a significant say in how services in their regions will be organized and will be responsible for ensuring that appropriate services are provided.

The Vancouver/Richmond Health Board came into being in 1997, and at the point of writing this report had eight Population Health Advisory Committees (PHACs) representing groups traditionally under-served by the health system. One of these PHACs represents the city's urban Aboriginal population. In addition to its Aboriginal Population Advisory Committee, the Vancouver Health Board has also recently instituted an Aboriginal Advisor to the Board. Although the Minister of Health has appointed Aboriginal governors to most Boards and Councils to help facilitate this process, many Aboriginal 'governors' have resigned and others complain of feeling unheard, invisible, and/or unsupported by the process (Aboriginal Health Association of B.C., 1999). A DTES Aboriginal

Many Aboriginal 'governors' have resigned and others complain of feeling unheard, invisible, and/or unsupported by the process

community leader in health found this to be her experience with PHAC and other committees:

I bring in my experiences and my concern for the community and the people. Sometimes they overlook what I'm trying to say because 'I'm not in her shoes.' You've got to walk the path for people to know where you're coming from. I think people need to recognize we have parents out there, or people out there, who've got very much say in what goes on and they need to be heard and listened to.

~ DTES Community Leader

To date, there is little evidence to show that regionalization has improved health service planning or provided greater control and decision-making for Aboriginal people. Of immediate concern is whether improvements will occur for marginalized groups, such as Aboriginal women living in the DTES. A representative from B.C. Women's Hospital stated that Aboriginal women's issues were not of themselves a priority for DTES health care authorities. Rather, their priority is to improve primary health care services for the DTES population as a whole:

I think that people were so concerned to set up a proper clinic for Native people in general and to respond properly to the AIDS epidemic and drugs and things like that. But they weren't thinking about women's issues and they still aren't basically [doing much for Aboriginal women], except that they have some very wise people.... But basically [the concerns of Aboriginal women were not] on the plate, and it wasn't on the plate for any of the services down there... ~ Health Professional

To date, there is little evidence to show that regionalization has improved health service planning or provided greater control and decisionmaking for Aboriginal people. Most Aboriginal specific-health care organizations are funded on a contract basis directly from various Provincial Ministries, the local health board, and by private donations. Health professionals interviewed expressed concerns about how such organizations will continue to access health dollars from the Vancouver Health Board. The competition with 'big players,' such as hospitals and other large health organizations with power and prestige was a factor that did not work in their favour, as expressed by one VNHS doctor:

Can you distribute your money equitably? As you know you're dealing with big enormous hospitals with which the region is involved and they have a lot of power and there are prestige factors involved, etc. etc.

They walk away with the vast majority, with the greatest piece of the pie.

~VNHS Doctor

Aboriginal Healing Centre

There was general agreement between both the women who participated in the focus groups and the service providers that an Aboriginal healing centre would benefit Aboriginal people in Vancouver. Yet reservations were expressed by some research participants and other wanted more information regarding what exactly an 'Aboriginal Healing centre' would look like: would it look like a medical centre, social centre, or spiritual centre? Others had concerns around the location of the proposed Centre and who would be able to use it.

There was general agreement between both the women who participated in the focus groups and the service providers that an Aboriginal healing centre would benefit Aboriginal people in Vancouver.

The lack of consultation with existing groups and failure to ensure programs complement and support one another is of great concern.

Service providers recognized that the larger issue of Aboriginal control of a healing and health centre might create problems between the Aboriginal community and the Regional Health Board.

Further, a VNHS administrator described recent concerns over the duplication of health services by the Regional Health Board. An experimental drug treatment program was recently set up one block from VNHS, based on the same treatment premise used at a VNHS program, yet the same program at VNHS continues to be under-funded. The lack of consultation with existing groups and failure to ensure that programs complement and support one another was of great concern to some respondents. One service provider put it this way:

I guess my first reaction is that it would be nice to [acknowledge] some of the services that are already doing a good job...We do have a lot of services in the DTES area for First Nations people that are really good. And so if the healing centre comes around to build another service that duplicates the services that are already existing, [it] would be a waste because the dollars are so scarce.

~VNHS Service Provider

Service providers recognized that the larger issue of

Aboriginal control of such a Centre might create problems between
the Aboriginal community and the Regional Health Board. Some
service providers interviewed were concerned that the Health Board
would overstep its role in facilitating the Centre:

They haven't really done the jobs in terms of any kind of coordination. Because again, I think they see that as something working counterproductive to meet their own needs because if you're strengthening groups within a community then you know how can you sort of stop them from being competitive with you, you know. And if you want to own and operate

everything, that's really not a way to go about you know, becoming all-powerful.

~DTES Administrator

8. CONCLUSION

Based on our interviews with Aboriginal women, a number of recommendations were put forth to improve accountability and to ensure systemic change to improve Aboriginal women's access to health services and to enhance participation and control over services targeted specifically to them:

- Reserve seats (more than one) on the VNHS and the Vancouver Health Board for Aboriginal women from the DTES;
- Host regular informal focus groups or feedback sessions at VNHS, specifically for Aboriginal women to help ensure Aboriginal women's decision-making and control over their health care needs;
- On a trial basis, implement a one-day a week clinic for women seeking services at the VNHS;
- On a monthly basis, plan information-sharing sessions for all staff at the VNHS and Sheway;
- I mplement policy changes to address human resource hiring strategies;
- 6. Seek funding for a 'Next Step' parenting program for middle and older aged children;
- 7. Ensure Aboriginal women's input into the development of an Aboriginal Healing Centre;
- 8. Invite Aboriginal women to become one of the partners in the development of a provincial Aboriginal Health Strategy or similar initiatives;

9. The population health committee at the Regional Health Board is advised to establish committees made up of Aboriginal women with expertise in their own health care concerns. Adequate housing should be among the top priorities.

Research conducted on the DTES over the past five years has identified the need for more detox treatment centres and shelter beds for women, especially for single mothers.

want more street

better drug and

have 'been there'

themselves.

Women in the DTES outreach workers, as well as more and/or alcohol services and service providers who

Our findings from the focus groups were echoed in previous research carried out in the DTES. Research conducted on the DTES over the past five years has identified the need for more detox treatment centres and shelter beds for women, especially for single mothers (Core Women Care, 1995; Parry, 1997; Baxter, 1999). Other studies have found that Aboriginal women are less likely to seek treatment for substance abuse for fear their children will be apprehended and placed in adoptive homes or formal arrangements of some kind (Parry, 1997). Reports have also indicated that women in the DTES want more street outreach workers, as well as more and/or better drug and alcohol services (Core Women Care, 1995; Poole, 2000). In addition, both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal women have identified a need for service providers who have 'been there' themselves, to ensure a better mutual understanding and trust between provider and client (Core Women Care, 1995). Despite new and upcoming health initiatives in the DTES [i.e., Sobering Centre/Detox; Drug Resource Centre; Dental Centre], there is still no evidence of gendered service delivery in these initiatives. In addition, despite recommendations for a new health facility in the Greater

Aboriginal women in DTES spoke of the physical, cultural, socio-emotional and historical wounds that have affected their health, language, identities and self-respect.

Aboriginal women, one of the most marginalized of all inner city populations, hold the key to a healthier way of life for themselves and their children.

Vancouver/Richmond area, no consultation has been undertaken with VNHS or Aboriginal women in the DTES.

In our conversations with DTES Aboriginal women, we learned that they carry an incredible inner strength that has sustained them thus far. Many spoke of the physical, cultural, socioemotional and historical wounds that have affected their health, language, identities and self-respect. One does not have to go far on any street corner in the DTES to see the intractable problems related to infant and child health and infectious and chronic diseases. Each woman is a warrior in her own right, fighting a loosing battle against poverty, disease, racism, sexism and abandonment. The DTES is not where Aboriginal women belong; so many of them are lost in the perils of a place that is so far from their culture, that offers them little by way of tenderness, caring, or empowerment. As we create change in governance of health services, at federal, provincial, regional and organizational levels, there remains a difficult challenge ahead regarding how best to balance Aboriginal and Western ways of healing. We believe that the best place to start is with the women themselves, the traditional "keepers" of Aboriginal cultures. Aboriginal women, one of the most marginalized of all inner city populations, hold the key to a healthier way of life for themselves and their children.

In conclusion, we believe this study points to the necessity of asking marginalized urban Aboriginal women themselves about their health concerns and needs and how both might be better integrated into the organization and delivery of future services. Otherwise Aboriginal women, confronted with cultural and gender discrimination, racism and poverty will continue to fall through the cracks of programs and services of health organizations, even those specifically set up to serve Aboriginal people, such as the VNHS.

9. IMPLICATIONS FOR ABORIGINAL WOMEN AND HEALTH RESEARCH POLICY

The importance of this research lies in the fact that, while Aboriginal women in the DTES have particular health concerns associated with high-risk behaviour and the environment in which they live, their health and social needs are in no way being adequately met. Aboriginal women are the largest growing HIV+ population in the DTES, but from our research and medical clinic statistics it is apparent that they are not accessing services and that there are gaps in the services they require. Currently, there are no specific policies for addressing these issues, nor is there specific funding available to further investigate barriers to access for these women. Only by integrating what we have learned from Aboriginal women into planning, policy development, and new models of health service delivery can we hope to improve their health status. This research

Only by integrating what we have learned from Aboriginal women into planning, policy development, and new models of health service delivery can we hope to improve their health status.

highlights what is working in Aboriginal health organizations and provides support to make the needed changes to health policy programming and service delivery that is specific to the needs of Aboriginal women.

REFERENCES

- Aboriginal Health Association of British Columbia. 1999. *Health Authorities Handbook on Aboriginal Health.* Funded by the Ministry of Health and Ministry Responsible for Seniors.
- Armstrong, P. 1998. "Women and Health: Challenges and Changes," pp.249-266 in Nancy Mandell (ed.). *Feminist Issues: Race, Class, and Sexuality*. Scarborough, Ontario: Prentice Hall.
- Baxter, B. 1999. *Health Services for Women Living in the Downtown Eastside*. Report submitted to the Vancouver/Richmond Health Board.
- B.C. Ministry of Health and Ministry Responsible for Seniors. 1996. Policy Manual for Regional Health Boards. Victoria, B.C. Eakins, Pamela. (ed.) 1986. *The American Way of Birth*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press.
- B.C. Provincial Health Officer, 1996. A Report on the Health of British Colombians:

 Provincial Health Officer's Annual Report-1995 Feature Report: Women's Health.

 Victoria, B.C: Ministry of Health and Ministry Responsible for Seniors.
- B.C. Women's Health Bureau. 1998. Minister's Advisory Council on Women's Health. *Women's Health in the Context of Regionalization*. Victoria, B.C.
- Benoit, Cecilia. 2000. Women, Work, and Social Rights. Scarborough, Ontario. Prentice Hall.
- Bouw, B. 1996. "Spreading the Word" in *The Vancouver Sun*, July 12:A9.
- City of Vancouver. 1998 (Spring). Downtown Eastside Community Monitoring Report.
- Clark, G. 1999. "365 overdose deaths last year set grim new record" in *The Province*, Jan.21:A3.
- Clarke, Juanne Nancarrow. 2000. *Health, I liness, and Medicine in Canada*. Don Mills, Ont.: Oxford University Press.
- Core Women Care Report. 1995. The Place to Start: Women's Health Care Priorities in Vancouver's DTES. Sponsored by the Vancouver Women's Health Collective and funded by the Women's Health Bureau.
- Currie, S. 1995. Assessing the Violence Against Street-Involved Women in the DTES/Strathcona Communities. Written for Downtown Eastside Youth Activities Society (DEYAS).

- Currie, S., 1996-98. The Vancouver Injection Drug User Study (VI DUS) Project: Updates #1-4. Written for the B.C. Centre for Excellence in HI V/AI DS.
- Garm, Annette. 1997. How Risk Factors Combine to Put Inner City, Substance Using Women and their Infants at an Increased Risk for HIV infection. VNGS, Vancouver, B.C.
- Harvey, E., Strathdee, S., et al. 1998. 'A Qualitative Investigation into an HIV Outbreak among Intravenous Drug Users (IDUs) in Vancouver, B.C.' in *AIDS CARE*, v.10 (3):313.
- Hislop, T.G. et al. 1992. "Participation in the B.C. cervical cytology screening program by Native Indian women" in Canadian Journal of Public Health, Vol.83 (5):344-5.
- Joseph, R. 1999. *Healing Ways Aboriginal Health and Service Review*. Report for the Vancouver/Richmond Health Board.
- Kent, H. 1998. "Hepatitis A and C 'superinfections' tackled in B.C.' in *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, v. 159(6).
- Last, J. 1982. "Health of Native Canadians Its Relevance to World Health". *Canadian Journal of Public Health* 73:297-298.
- Loock, C.A., C. Kinnis, G.C. Robinson, S. Segal, F.J. Blatherwick and R.W. Armstrong. 1993.

 Targeting High Risk Families: Prenatal Alcohol/Drug Abuse and Infant Outcomes.

 Vancouver, BC: Department of Pediatrics, Faculty of Medicine, University of British Columbia.
- Martin, Steven, Robert M. Arnold, and Ruth M. Parker. 1998. "Gender and Medical Socialization," pp.346-357 in William C. Cockerham, Michael Glasser and Linda S. Hauser (eds.). *Readings in Medical Sociology*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- McColl, 1999. "This is DTES, Vancouver's Downtown Eastside". Kahtou News, v.8(1).
- Parry, P. 1997. Something to Eat, A Place to Sleep, and Someone to Give a Damn: HIV/AIDS and Injection Drug Use in the DTES. Final Project Report submitted to The DTES Community; Joy McPhail, Minister of Health; The Vancouver/Richmond Health Board.
- Poole, Nancy. 2000. Evaluation Report of the Sheway Project for High-Risk and Parenting Women. Prepared for the B.C. Centre of Excellence for Women's Health, Vancouver, B.C.
- Royal Commission on Aboriginal People. (1996). Report of the Royal Commission on Aboriginal Peoples. Volume 3: Gathering Strength. Ottawa: Minister of Supply and Services Canada.

- Ruzek, Sheryl. 1978. The Women's Health Movement: Feminist Alternatives to Medical Control. New York" Praeger Publishers.
- The Trade and Convention Centre Community I mpact Team (TACCIT). 1999. Which Legacy? Vancouver's Downtown Communities and the Expansion of the Vancouver Convention and Exhibition Centre.
- Vancouver Native Health Society. 1991-1998. *Vancouver Native Health Society: Annual Report(s)*. Vancouver, B.C.: Vancouver Native Health Society.
- Vancouver Richmond Health Board. 1997 (Sept). Vancouver Richmond Health Board Resolution.
- Waldram, J, Herring, D, and Young, K. 1994. *Aboriginal Health in Canada.* Toronto: University of Toronto Press.
- Wasserman, R.C., T.S. Inui, R.D. Barriatua, W.B. Carter, and P. Lippincott. 1984. "Pediatric Clinicians' Support for Parents Makes a Difference: An Outcome-Based Analysis of Clinical-Parent Interaction." *Pediatrics* 74:1047-53.
- Weiss, G and Lonnquist. 1997. *The Sociology of Health, Healing, and I liness.* New Jersey: Prentice Hall.
- West, Candice. 1985. Routine Complications. Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Whynot, E. 1998. "Women who use injection drugs: the social context of risk" in *The Canadian Medical Association Journal*, v.159 (4):355.
- Youngman, G., and Associates. 'Treaty Mandate Paper, Part 1' quoted in *Health Authorities Handbook on Aboriginal Health*, p.43.

APPENDIX A

CLINIC TABLES HIGHLIGHTING SEX AND ETHNICITY

1992-1998 VISITS BY SEX

YEAR	TOTAL	MALE		% FEMALE	%
1992	1 397	867	63	509	37
1993	5 343	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
1994	6 610	4 254	64.4	2 356	35.6
1995	7 382	4 866	65.9	2 516	34.1
1996	7 053	4 453	63.1	2 600	36.9
1997	10 971	6 985	63.7	3 986	36.3
1998	13 756	8 877	64.5	4 840	35.2

- Visits by men outnumber those by women almost 2 to 1. Men at the clinic considerably outnumber women.
- While tremendous growth has occurred in clinic visits, the percentage of both male and female visits has remained stable.

1992-1998 VISITS BY NATIVE STATUS AND SEX

YEAR	NATIVE	% of all clinic visits	NATI VE MALE	% of all clinic visits	NATI VE FEMALE	% of all clinic visits
1992	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
1993	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
1994	2 556	38.7	1 406	21.3	1 150	17.4
1995	3 110	42.1	1 766	24	1 344	18.2
1996	3 352	47.5	1 928	27.3	1 424	20.2
1997	5 441	49.6	3 215	29.3	2 226	20.3
1998	6 079	44.2	3 373	24.5	2 706	19.7

^{*}Thanks to Clinic Coordinator Gordon Kliewer for sourcing the raw data compiled in the tables.

- Visits by Natives now represent almost half of all visits. As a percentage of total clinic visits they have increased slightly though steadily up to 1997 (10.9%).
- Visits by Native males represent almost one third of all visits. As a percentage of total visits they also increased steadily until 1997 (8%),
- Visits by Native females as a percentage have remained relatively stable, representing roughly one fifth of all visits.

1992-1998 FEMALE VISITS BY ETHNICITY

YEAR	WOMEN (% of Total Caseload)	NATIVE WOMEN (% of Total Women)	ALL NATIVE (% of Total Caseload)	NATIVE WOMEN (% of Total Caseload)	NATIVE WOMEN (% of Total Native)
1992	37	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
1993	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
1994	35.6	48.8	38.7	17.4	45
1995	34.1	53.4	42.2	18.2	43.2
1996	36.9	54.8	47.5	20.2	42.5
1997	36.3	55.8	49.6	20.3	40.9
1998	35.2	55.9	44.2	19.7	44.5

• Visits by Native women represent just over half of all visits by women. As a percentage of all female visits they have increased steadily (7.1%).

1992-1998 MALE VISITS BY NATIVE STATUS

YEAR	MEN (% of Total Cases)	NATIVE MEN (% of Total Men)	ALL NATIVE (% of Total Cases)	NATIVE MEN (% of Total Cases)	NATIVE MEN (% of Total Native)
1992	63	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
1993	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a
1994	64.4	33.1	38.7	21.3	55
1995	65.9	36.3	42.2	24	56.8
1996	63.1	43.3	47.5	27.3	57.5
1997	63.7	46	49.6	29.3	59.1
1998	64.5	38	44.2	24.5	55.5

- Visits by Native men as a percentage of all men are increasing slightly (4.9%). They represent roughly 40% of all male visitors.
- Visits by Native men comprise slightly more than half of all Native visits, and have remained stable.

Summary of Clinic Visits:

- Of total clients, sex ratios have remained unchanged over the clinic's 6-year history.
- Of visits by Native clients the sex ratio is almost equal, whereas it is almost 2:1 for total clinic visits. (Caucasian males are by far the most frequent clinic visitors.) This apparent under representation of Caucasian females may simply reflect the gender demographics of the community. Informal discussions with other Community Health clinics in the area reveal similar male: female ratios.
- Native visits have been increasing slowly and steadily until 1998 (10.9%).
- Visits by Native males until 1998 were increasing as a percentage both of total clinic visits and of Native visits (8% and 4.1%).
- Visits by Native women are increasing steadily relative to those of Caucasian females
 (7%). As percentages of both total clinic visits and Native visits, visits by Native women remain unchanged.

- The largest percentage change overall has been of total Native visits (10.9% increase).
- In 1998, the trend towards increases reversed to slight decreases for several groups, all involving Natives: Total Natives as % of Total Visits (5.4%); Native Males as % of Total Visits (4.8%); Native Males as % of Total Men (8%); Native Males as % of Total Native (3.6%); Native Females as % of Total Visits (0.6%).
- The reverse trend occurred for Native women as a % of Total Natives in 1998: after steadily decreasing percentages, Native Women increased by 3.6%.
- The greatest trend reversal occurred for Native Males as % of Total Men (8%).

Total and HIV Caseloads by Ethnicity - 1998

	Caucasian	Aboriginal	Other
Total Caseload	50%	40%	10%
HIV Caseload	46%	50%	4%

• Aboriginals are disproportionately represented with HIV, compared to Caucasians.

Total and HIV/AIDS Female Caseloads - 1998

	Caucasian	Aboriginal	Other
Total Fem. Caseload	41%	53%	6%
HIV Caseload	34%	65%	1%

• Aboriginal women are over-represented in the female HIV+ caseload.

Total and HIV/AIDS Male Caseloads - 1998

	Caucasian	Aboriginal	Other
Total Male Caseload	54%	34%	12%
HIV Caseload	52%	42%	6%

- The clinic's HIV/AIDS statistics correlate well with the Vancouver Injection Drug User Survey's observation that First Nations people are over represented in the HIV/AIDS category. Although Aboriginals accounted for 40% of the clinic's total caseload, they were disproportionately represented with HIV/AIDS, making up 50% of the caseload. This pattern was most evident with Aboriginal women, who accounted for 65% of females with HIV/AIDS while making up only 53% of all female patients. Similarly, Aboriginal males were afflicted more frequently with HIV/AIDS than their Caucasian counterparts. Aboriginal males accounted for 34% of all male patients yet comprised 43% of males with HIV/AIDS.
- Alcohol/drug visits: 36% total visits (1997) HI V/AI DS related issues: 13% total visits (1997).